69830-3

698303

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

GARY FILION,

# Respondent,

VS.

JULIE JOHNSON, et al., Appellant. CASE # 69830-3-I

[King County Superior Court Case # 07-2-06353-6 SEA]

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Attorney for Appellant:

Helmut Kah, Attorney at Law WSBA Membership # 18541 6818 140<sup>th</sup> Ave NE Woodinville, WA 98072-9001 Phone: 425-949-8357 Fax: 425-949-4679 Email: helmut.kah@att.net Attorney for Respondent:

Noah C. Davis, Attorney at Law WSBA Membership # 30939 Jamila A. Taylor, Attorney at Law WSBA Membership # 32177 In Pacta, PLLC 801 2nd Ave Ste 307 Seattle, WA 98104-1512 Phone: 206-709-8281 Fax: 206-860-0178

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW7
V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE9
VI. ARGUMENT
VII. ATTORNEY FEES
VIII. CONCLUSION

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### **State Cases**

Bailey v. State, 147 Wn.App. 251, 260, 191 P.3d 1285(2008)
Bernsen v. Big Bend Elec. Co-op., Inc., 842 P.2d 1047, 68 Wn.App. 427 (1993)
Bishop v. Miche, 137 Wash.2d 518, 523, 973 P.2d 465 (1999)
Brothers v. Pub. Sch. Employees of Washington, `88 Wash.App. 398, 409, 945 P.2d 208 (1997)7

Clayton v. Grange Ins. Ass'n, 74 Wash.App. 875, 877, 875 P.2d 1246 (1994)
Dang v. Ehredt, 95. Wn. App. 670, 977 P.2d 29, review denied. 139 Wn.2d 1012 (1999)
Dutton v. Washington Physicians Health Program, 87 Wash.App. 614, 622-23, 943 P.2d 298 (1997)
In re Estate of Palmer, 187 P.3d 758, 145 Wn.App. 249, 258 (2008) 42
Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wash.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998)
Gilman v. MacDonald, 74 Wn. App. 733, 875 P.2d 697, review denied, 125 Wn.2d 1010 (1994)
Harting v. Barton, 101 Wash.App. 954, 962, 6 P.3d 91 (2000)
Henderson v. Tyrrell, 910 P.2d 522, 80 Wn.App. 592 (1996) 42
Johnson v. Rothstein, 52 Wash.App. 303, 304, 759 P.2d 471 (1988)
Kaplan v. Northwestern Mut. Life Ins. Co., 115 Wn.App. 791, 799-800, 65 P.3d 16, , (Wash.App. Div. 1 2003)
<i>Kauzlarich v. Yarbrough</i> , 105 Wn. App. 632, 20 P.3d 946 (2001)
<i>Lowe v. Rowe, 294 P.3d 6</i> (Decided 12/06/2012; Ct of App Div 3 case no. 30282-2; Publication Ordered Jan. 31, 2013)
Moore v. Pac. NW Bell, 34 Wn.App. 448, 662 P.2d 398 (1983)
<i>Segaline v. State, Dept. of Labor and Industries</i> , 169 Wn.2 <sup>nd</sup> 467, 238 P.3d 1107 (2010)

5	State v. Bunker, 169 Wn.2d 571, 238 P.3d 487 (2010) 44
	University Village Ltd. Partners v. King County, 106 Wash.App. 321, [65 P.3d 21] 324, 23 P.3d 1090, review denied, 145 Wash.2d 1002, 35 P.3d 381 (2001)
	Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 283 P.3d 567, 169 Wn.App. 588 (2012)7
	Young v. Estate of Snell, 134 Wash.2d 267, 271, 948 P.2d 1291 (1997)
	State Statutes
	RCW 4.24.500 18, <b>19</b> , 30, 31, 32, 35, 39, 40, 41
	RCW 4.24.510
	RCW 4.24.525
	RCW 4.24.525(2)
	RCW Chapter 10.99
	RCW Chapter 26.09
	RCW 26.50.110 13, 14, 36, 43, 44

# **State Court Rules**

RAP 2.4(g)	
CR 8(c)	42, 43
CR 11	
°CR 15(a)	

CR 12(b)
CR 12(b)(6) 2, 3, 5, 7, 17, 18, 20, 21, 29, 39
CR 41(a)(1)(B)
CR 54(b)
CR 54(c)
CR 56 41
Local Court Rules

KCLR 7(b)(7)	
--------------	--

# INDEX TO APPENDIX

Text of RCW 4.24.500
Text of RCW 4.24.510
Text of RCW 4.24.525
Order dismissing plaintiff's complaint as to Defendants Olson & Olson, PLLC, entered on February 8, 2008. (Brief p. 16)
Order Denying Johnson's Motion for Summary Judgment, entered November 7, 2013
Stipulated Judgment entered December 19, 2012 17 - 22

#### I. INTRODUCTION

#### Names used in reference to parties:

This brief refers to the appellant as "Johnson" and to the respondent on appeal as "Filion" except where the name "Gary" or "Gary Filion" appears in quoted text or in the name of a document. The individual plaintiff, Gary Filion, passed away on August 9, 2010, while this case was pending on the prior appeal. Lester Filion, Personal Representative of the Estate of Gary Filion, was formally substituted as plaintiff.

#### Summary of the case:

The marriage between Gary Filion and Julie Johnson was dissolved by decree entered June 1, 2006, in Snohomish County Superior Court. The decree contains mutual restraining provisions which, among other things, prohibited Filion from entering upon or coming within 500 feet of Johnson's residence.

In the afternoon of August 1, 2006, Filion came upon the premises of Johnson's residence to take possession of certain personal property that was awarded to him by the parties' dissolution decree. He came in a moving truck with two men. His parents also came in a separate car but parked their car and remained some distance away from Johnson's house.

Filion parked the moving truck near the garage of Johnson's residence and walked to the door and knocked and/or rang the doorbell. Johnson saw him approach, had a panic attack, took a Xanax, called 911, and ran to the far end of the residence in fear. A friend who was present helping Johnson pack in preparation for moving answered the door. He told Filion that Johnson had called 911 and the police were on their way. Filion left and was gone before the police officer arrived.

The officer took a statement from Johnson and from one of her sons. The Shoreline City Prosecutor filed a criminal complaint against Filion charging him with violation of the restraining order. Filion received s Summons/Subpoena/Notice to appear in court for arraignment. Filion appeared and pled "Not Guilty". The criminal case was dismissed in October 2006.

On February 21, 2007, Filion through counsel filed this action for money damages against Johnson. The action is based solely on Johnson's August 1, 2006, call and report to 911 and the responding deputy sheriff of Filion's restraining order violation committed hat afternoon.

On October 24, 2008, Johnson filed a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Filion's lawsuit on the basis of the unqualified immunity granted by RCW 4.24.510 and requested an award of her expenses and reasonable attorney fees plus statutory damages of \$10,000.00.

Because the trial court considered matters outside of the pleadings, Johnson's motion to dismiss was heard and considered as a motion for summary judgment. On November 21, 2008, the trial court entered an order denying Johnson's request for dismissal of Filion's claims.

A one-day mandatory arbitration hearing was held. The arbitrator issued an award in Johnson's favor dismissing Filion's claims but denied Johnson an award of her expenses, reasonable attorney fees, and statutory damages.

Johnson filed a request for trial de novo.

Filion changed lawyers and moved for voluntary dismissal under CR 41(a)(1)(B). The motion for voluntary dismissal was initially denied by one judge and later granted by a different judge. Johnson appealed. The Court of Appeals reversed the dismissal. Filion petitioned for review by the Supreme Court. Review was denied.

The matter was remanded and the Mandate filed in King County Superior Court on January 3, 2012.

Each party filed a motion for summary judgment in early October 2012.

Johnson's motion for summary judgment requested dismissal of Filion's claims. The basis for Johnson's motion was her claim of unqualified immunity from civil liability for Filion's claims under RCW 4.24.510. Filion agrees that his claims against Johnson in this case are based upon Johnson's call to 911 on August 1, 2006 and her report to the responding deputy sheriff that Filion had violated their dissolution decree's restraining order by coming upon the premises of her residence that afternoon.

The basis stated by the trial court, Hon. Sharon S. Armstrong, for denying Johnson's motion for summary judgment is that Johnson's report of Filion's restraining order violation was made privately, in a call to the police, not in a public statement or in a public discussion, is a private matter, not made publicly, and was not an expression of political activity, and therefore is not within the scope of the immunity established by RCW 4.24.510.

Trial was scheduled to begin December 17, 2012.

Johnson filed for discretionary review by the Court of Appeals, Division One, on November 14, 2012. (CP 355 – 365) The earliest hearing date available in the Court of Appeals was February 22, 2013. Johnson's motion for stay of trial pending discretionary review was denied by the trial court.

The matter was reassigned to Hon. Michael J. Hayden for jury trial on December 19, 2012. The parties appeared for trial. After some hours of colloquy between court and counsel and negotiations, the parties agreed to waive jury trial and the Court entered a Stipulated Judgment which preserves Johnson's claims under RCW 4.24.510 for appeal. (CP 449 – 454) (Appendix pp. 17 – 22)

Johnson timely filed her Notice of Appeal on January 18, 2013. Filion has not filed a cross appeal.

#### **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

The trial court erred in entering the order of November 21,
 2008, denying Johnson's CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Filion's claims,
 which motion was heard and considered as a motion for summary judgment.
 (CP 109)

The trial court erred in entering the order of November 7,
 2012, denying Johnson's summary judgment motion for dismissal of
 plaintiff's claims based on Johnson's claim of unqualified immunity under
 RCW 4.24.510 and ordering that the issue shall not be asserted at trial. (CP
 341 - 348)

3. The trial court erred in ordering on December 19, 2012, that defendant is precluded and barred from asserting and raising her immunity defense and claims under RCW 4.24.510 at trial and, as a consequence of erroneously barring Johnson's defense and claims under RCW 4.24.510, ordering that Johnson did not improve her position at trial de novo and that Filion is entitled to recover attorney fees from Johnson under MAR 7.3. (CP 452 lines 8 - 15)

4. The trial court erred in assessing costs and attorney fees against Johnson as a party who has appealed the arbitrator's award and who has failed to improve the party's position on the trial de novo. (CP 625 - 627) This order and judgment should be vacated upon the court's reversal of the trial

court's decisions denying Johnson's claim and defense of immunity under RCW 4.24.510.

#### **III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

**ISSUE 1:** Did the trial court err in denying Johnson's October 2012 motion for summary judgment and in ordering that Johnson shall not assert her defense of immunity and claims under RCW 4.24.510 at trial? (Assignment of Error 1 and 2)

**ISSUE 2:** Is immunity under RCW 4.24.510 available to a person who calls 911 and reports a violation of a Chapter 26.09 RCW restraining order who is later sued for civil money damages based upon her communications to 911 and law enforcement? (All Assignments of Error)

**ISSUE 3:** Did the 2010 enactment of RCW 4.24.525 amend RCW 4.24.510 such that the immunity defense is only available to persons who engage in public political speech and no longer available to citizens who communicate with government agencies such as the 911 call centers and law enforcement agencies regarding private matters such as reports of restraining order and no contact order violations? (Assignments of Error 2, 3, and 4)

**ISSUE 4**: If the answer to Issue 2 is affirmative, does the 2010 amendment of RCW 4.24.525 apply retroactively to deprive Johnson of the protection of immunity under RCW 4.24.510 for her August 1, 2006 911 call and report of Filion's restraining order violation to the responding law enforcement officer? (Assignments of Error 2, 3, and 4) **ISSUE 5:** Does the fact that defendant previously brought a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, which was denied on November 21, 2008 by a different judge who had since retired, preclude Johnson from re-asserting her request for dismissal based on her RCW 4.24.510 defense of unqualified statutory immunity via motion for summary judgment? (Assignments of Error 2, 3, and 4)

**ISSUE 6**: Must a defense asserted in a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss which was heard and considered as a motion for summary judgment and which was denied, be re-asserted in a document labeled "answer" or "amended answer" for that defense to remain available to the defendant in the case? (Assignments of Error 2, 3, and 4)

#### **IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review in this case is de novo.

Johnson claims that the trial court erroneously denied her summary judgment motion. This court does not generally review an order denying summary judgment after a case goes to trial where there were material factual issues prior to trial, unless the denial of the motion for summary judgment turns solely on a substantive issue of law. *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 283 P.3d 567, 169 Wn.App. 588 (2012)

A summary judgment denial cannot be appealed following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts are disputed and must be resolved by the factfinder." *Brothers v. Pub. Sch. Employees of* 

Washington, 88 Wash.App. 398, 409, 945 P.2d 208 (1997); Johnson v. Rothstein, 52 Wash.App. 303, 304, 759 P.2d 471 (1988).

However, such an order is subject to review "if the parties dispute no issues of fact and the decision on summary judgment turned solely on a substantive issue of law." *University Village Ltd. Partners v. King County*, 106 Wash.App. 321, [65 P.3d 21] 324, 23 P.3d 1090, review denied, 145 Wash.2d 1002, 35 P.3d 381 (2001).

Issues of law are reviewed de novo. *Clayton v. Grange Ins. Ass'n*, 74 Wash.App. 875, 877, 875 P.2d 1246 (1994).

See Kaplan v. Northwestern Mut. Life Ins. Co., 115 Wn.App. 791, 799-800, 65 P.3d 16, , (Wash.App. Div. 1 2003)

In reviewing a summary judgment motion, this court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Young v. Estate of Snell*, 134 Wash.2d 267, 271, 948 P.2d 1291 (1997). Summary judgment is appropriate if, considering the evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See *Young*, 134 Wash.2d at 271, 948 P.2d 1291. *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wash.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998). Facts and reasonable inferences from the facts are considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Bishop v. Miche*, 137 Wash.2d 518, 523, 973 P.2d 465 (1999). Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *Bailey v. State*, 147 Wn.App. 251, 260, 191

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The marriage of Julie Johnson and Gary Filion was dissolved by

decree entered on June 1, 2006, in Snohomish County Superior Court. (CP

210 - 219)

The decree divides the parties' real and personal property, and

provides that the residence Johnson and her children were living in, referred

to as the "Shoreline" house, shall be "listed and sold forthwith" (CP 212, 1.

23), and awards Filion certain personal property items that were located at the

Shoreline house when the decree was entered. (CP 211 to 213).

The decree restrains and enjoins Filion from

"going onto the grounds of or entering the home, workplace, school or day care of the following named children: Emelie Nye, Mitchell Nye, Jordan Nye, Spencer Nye (Julie's children)."

and restrains both parties from

"going onto the grounds of or entering the home, work place or school of the other party"

"knowingly coming within or knowingly remaining within 500 feet of the home, work place or school of the other party, or the day care or school of these children listed above."

(CP 217 l. 18 to CP 218 l. 16)

The personal property items Filion was to receive from Johnson's

residence are listed in the decree at page 3, paragraph 10, and at page 4,

paragraph 9. (CP 28 & 29; CP 212 & 213) Filion was to return "the table

leaves that belong to the Wife [when] when he picks up his personal property from the Wife." (CP 29 and CP 213 at 1.10 - 21)

A Residential Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement for the Shoreline house was signed by all parties in June, 2006. The closing date was set for August 1, 2006. Possession was to be turned over to the buyers on the closing date. (CP 200 - 201)

On August 1, 2006, Johnson and her children were at home and in the process of packing to move. The buyer was to receive possession of the premises at 9:00 p.m. that day. (Declaration of realtor Pat Dornay, CP 198 – 202)

Johnson's packing took longer than anticipated. Pat Dornay, the realtor, phoned Johnson in the morning of August 1, 2006, to check on her progress toward vacating the property. Johnson told Ms. Dornay she would not be moved out before 9:00 p.m. that evening. (CP 198, 1.6 - 8)

Ms. Dornay phoned Johnson in the morning of August 1, 2006, to check on her progress toward vacating the property. Johnson told her that she would not be moved out prior to 9:00 p.m. that evening. (CP 1`98, 1.6 - 8)

Ms. Dornay visited Johnson at the Shoreline house at 1:00 p.m. on August 1 to see for herself how things were going. She found that "It was obvious that Johnson would need all the time prior to her 9:00 p.m. deadline to finish packing and moving." (CP 198, 1.8 – 10) Ms. Dornay phoned Filion and told him that Julie would not be out of the house until 9:00 p.m. that evening, at which time the house would be turned over to the buyers. Filion told Ms. Dornay that he was going over to the house at 4:00 pm with a truck to pick up some furniture & personal belongings. (CP 198, 1. 14 - 17)

Ms. Dornay then phoned Johnson back and told her that Filion said he was planning to come over to pick some things up. Johnson told Ms. Dornay, "He better not or I'll call the cops." (CP 198, 1.18 - 19)

Filion called Ms. Dornay back and asked if she had told Johnson he was coming over. Ms. Dornay told him, "Yes, I did". Filion asked, "What did she say?" Ms. Dornay told him that Johnson said, "He better not!" and that the house is a mess and it will be a small miracle if Johnson completes her move by the 9:00 p.m. deadline. (CP 198, 1. 20, to CP 199, 1. 1)

Filion's lawyer had instructed him to pick up his personal property from Johnson's residence in the afternoon of August 1, 2006. Filion stated that, "I was advised by my lawyer, Peter Jorgenson, that I was authorized to go to the residence in Shoreline, WA on August 1, 2006 after 2:00 p.m. to pick up certain items of personal property." (Declaration of Gary Filion, CP 190 - 191, ¶ 2)

Filion admits in his declaration of November 7, 2008, that Pat Dornay told him that Johnson said he should not come to the residence that afternoon. Filion states "On August 1, 2006, I spoke with Pat Dornay, and she told me

that she had told Julie Johnson that I was coming over on that day and that Ms. Johnson had said in response "I hope he doesn't" ". (Declaration of Gary Filion, CP 190, at ¶ 3) Ms. Dornay stated that she told Filion that Johnson had said, "He better not." (CP 198, 1. 21)

At 4:00 p.m. on August 1, 2006, through her kitchen window, Johnson saw a moving truck come up her driveway. It stopped near the garage door. She saw Filion get out of the truck. Johnson started having a panic attack and took a Xanax. Filion came up to the front door, knocked, and rang the doorbell. Johnson called 911. Her son Spencer answered the door, not knowing it was Filion. Johnson's friend Larry who was helping her move told Filion he should not be there and that the police are on their way. (November 14, 2008, Reply Declaration of Julie Johnson, CP 102 – 107, at ¶¶ 5 – 6) (Johnson's November 14, 2008, declaration submitted as working papers on Johnson's **October 2012 Motion to Summary Judgment**. See CP 185)

When Filion was told that the police had been called, he left the premises and was gone before the police arrived. (Declaration of Gary Filion, CP 190 -191, at  $\P$  4).

The King County Sheriff Incident Report dated August 1, 2006, (CP 226 – 230) shows that a deputy sheriff was dispatched at 4:16 p.m. in response to Johnson's 911 call. The narrative report states that:

V-Filion, Julie, and A-Filion, Gary are currently going through a divorce; they were married for 4.5 years. W-Nhye, Spencer is the son of Julie and the stepson of Gary. Gary and Julie currently have a restraining order that prohibits either of them from contacting the other. It also prohibits Gary from going to 19814 8 AV NW. The order is #05-3-00679-1 through Snohomish County Superior Court in Everett and is currently active (6/1/06-6/30/09). The order was presented and explained to them both in court. The order specifically states that a violation of the order is a crime under RCW 26.50.110. Both parties have been served. See attached order for more details.

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