69830-3

69830-3

NO. 69830-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

GARY FILION, Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

JULIE JOHNSON, et al., Defendant/Appellant

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Noah Christian Davis WSBA #30939 Attorney for Respondent

In Pacta PLLC 801 2nd Ave Suite 307 Seattle, WA 98104 PH: (206) 734-3753

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

Determining whether claims/defenses were properly made as an affirmative defense instead of a counterclaim was an issue facing the

¹⁹ Similarly, the Connecticut Supreme Court has held a counterclaim to be a claim which could exist as an independent action. *See Hanson Development Co. v. East Great Plains Shopping Center, Inc.*, 195 Conn. 60, 63, 485 A.2d. 1296 (1985); *see also Schurman v. Schurman*, 188 Conn. 268, 270, 449 A.2d 169 (1982). It has been defined as "a cause of action existing in favor of a defendant against a plaintiff which a defendant pleads to diminish, defeat or otherwise affect a plaintiff's claim and also allows a recovery by the defendant. " *Home Oil Co. v. Todd*, 195 Conn. 333, 341, 487 A.2d 1095 (1985) (citing 1 Stephenson, Conn. Civ. Proc. (2d Ed. 1982 Sup.) § 129b.) The same treatment is found in Georgia. See *Gwinnett Commercial Bank v. Flake*, 151 Ga.App. 578, 579-580(1), 260 S.E.2d 523 (1979) (noting that a counterclaim is defined as "a claim presented by a defendant in opposition to or deduction from the claim of the plaintiff") (punctuation omitted). According to Black's Law Dictionary, a "counterclaim" is defined as " [a] claim for relief asserted against an opposing party after an original claim has been made; esp., a defendant's claim in opposition to or as a setoff against the plaintiff's claim." Black's Law Dictionary 402 (9th ed.2009).

District Court in *Clarke v. Max Advisors*, LLC, where the Court denied the improperly pleaded claims:

The remaining affirmative defenses, including breach of contract (sixth affirmative defense) as well as quasi contract, implied contract and quantum meruit (seventh cause of action) assert affirmative claims for which relief is sought by the plaintiffs. These claims do not represent cognizable defenses to a breach of contract claim; rather, any establishment of such a cause of action coupled with a showing of damages would allow for an offset against any recovery by the defendants against plaintiff SMC based upon breach of contract. See 34 New York Jurisprudence 2d Pleading § 177 (November 2002) (counterclaim, as opposed to an affirmative defense, can stand on its own as a separate action)...As such, those claims are not appropriately asserted as affirmative defenses, and I deny plaintiffs' motion to add those claims on the basis of futility.

235 F.Supp.2d 130, 151-152 (N.D.N.Y. 2002)²⁰

Here, Johnson's claim must be a counterclaim in order for the Defendant Johnson to have had standing (see preceding argument) to appeal the arbitration award as a trial de novo in the first place!²¹ If it was simply an affirmative defense, Johnson would not have been an aggrieved party because she would not have had an independent ground to continue the appeal (i.e. continue to have a claim for attorney's fees and a basis to argue that she did not engage in bad faith and should be entitled to a \$10,000 statutory penalty).

20

Where a state procedural rule parallels a federal rule, we may look to the analysis of the federal rule for guidance where an issue has not been squarely addressed by the state. Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Dietz, 87 P.3d 769, 771, 121 Wn.App. 97 (Div. 1 2004)
 See Snohomish County v. Anderson, 124 Wn.2d 834, 837, 881 P.2d 240 (1994) (discussing what constitutes an affirmative defense)

And, under CR 8(a), Claims for Relief, the counterclaim must be contained in a pleading.

A pleading which sets forth a claim for relief, whether an original claim, <u>counterclaim</u>, cross claim or third party claim, <u>shall contain</u> (1) a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the <u>pleader is entitled to relief</u> and (2) a demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled." (emphasis added)

In addition to CR 8(a) requiring Johnson to plead her counterclaim, her attempted (but failed) counterclaim was also a compulsory one under CR 13, as arising from the same transaction or occurrence as the claim brought by Plaintiff. This is because Johnson alleges that her activity — the reporting of the alleged mutual restraining order violation and instigation of the prosecution (which is also the same conduct and occurrence upon which Filion's malicious prosecution claim was based) — was a protected activity under RCW 4.24.500 et seq. Compulsory counterclaims must be set forth in the responsive pleading. *Schoeman v. N.Y. Life Ins. Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 855, 863, 726 P.2d 1 (1986) (emphasis added)

And, the fact that Johnson's claim depended on the outcome of the main action also does not transform it from being a compulsory counterclaim. *Chew v. Lorde*, 143 Wn.App. 807, 814-815, 181 P.3d 25. (Wash.App. Div. 1 2008). Thus, in *Lane v. Skamania County*, the court

found that the defendant's statutory counterclaim (under RCW 4.28.328²²) came into existence at the time that the plaintiffs had wrongfully filed a *lis pendens* claim. 265 P.3d 156, 164 Wn.App. 490, 499-501 (Wash.App. Div. 2 2011) Like in *Chew*, *supra* the court found that the defendant's right to recover on their counterclaim, i.e., their status as the prevailing party, only awaited the main action's outcome. *Id.* Thus, the defendant's counterclaim matured at the time of plaintiff's filing of the *lis pendens* (or shortly thereafter) and not when the *lis pendens* claim is extinguished or found to have been wrongfully filed. *Id.* Thus, to preserve the defendant's claim for a wrongful filing, that claim had to be included in an answer or upon a timely motion.²³

Prior to the 2010 amendment²⁴, the anti-SLAPP defense (like the Lis Pendens wrongfully filed defense and attorney fees award), was a counterclaim – as both arise from the same activity complained of in the

²⁴ RCW 4.24.525

²² RCW 4.28.328 Lis pendens — Liability of claimants — Damages, costs, attorneys' fees.

⁽³⁾ Unless the claimant establishes a substantial justification for filing the lis pendens, a claimant is liable to an aggrieved party who prevails in defense of the action in which the lis pendens was filed for actual damages caused by filing the lis pendens, and in the court's discretion, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred in defending the action.

²³ And although Johnson never filed a Motion to Amend her answer, prejudice to Filion would be grounds for denial of leave to supplement pleadings under CR 15(d). *Herron v. Tribune Pub. Co., Inc.*, 108 Wash.2d 162, 169, 736 P.2d 249 (1987) As undue delay is one chief factor the Court may consider in determining prejudice. *Herron*, 108 Wash.2d at 165-66, 736 P.2d 249.

Plaintiff's complaint and both set forth independent claims for the

Defendants that would continue even if the Plaintiffs lost the case-in-chief.

Johnson's failure to plead this anti-SLAPP (including by a motion to amend a pleading) and pay the filing fee results in her being precluded from raising this claim.

ii. Alternatively, at the very least, Johnson's purported claim is an Affirmative Defense

If Johnson's Anti-SLAPP claim is not deemed to be a counterclaim then, it would have to be an affirmative defense (despite not falling under any of the affirmative defenses set forth in Civil Rule 8). This is the treatment that past Washington cases have given to a defendant's use of the anti-SLAPP statute. See *Doe. v. Gonzaga Univ.*, 99 Wn.App. 338, 351, 992 P.2d 545 (2000) (aff'd in part, reversed in part on other grounds by 143 Wn.2d 687 (2001); and *Port of Longview v. Int'l Raw Materials Ltd.*, 96 Wn.App. 431, 435-36, 979 P.2d 917 (1999)

Civil Rule 8(c) requires that a party:

shall set forth affirmatively accord and satisfaction, arbitration and award, assumption of risk, contributory negligence, discharge in bankruptcy, duress, estoppel, failure of consideration, fault of a nonparty, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches, license, payment, release, res judicata, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, waiver, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense.²⁵

²⁵ Similarly, CR 12(b) provides that "every defense, in law or fact, to a claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross claim, or third party claim, shall be

The language of CR 8(c) and 12(b) are mandatory – requiring that a party plead their affirmative defense in the answer (or by motion prior to pleading). The general rule is that affirmative defenses are waived if not plead in a motion under CR 12(b) (prior to filing an Answer) or made in the Answer itself. See CR 8; *Lake Stevens Sewer Dist.*, *Snohomish County v. Village Homes, Inc.*, 18 Wn.App. 165, 178, 566 P.2d 1256 (Div. 1 1977) ("The [defendant] did not raise the payment of \$3,000 as an affirmative defense pursuant to CR 8(c), or move to amend its answer to assert a setoff. Under such circumstances, the defense has been abandoned.") And here, it is clear that Johnson did not raise an affirmative defense in her pleading or by CR 12 motion (prior to answering).

Despite the mandatory language of CR 8(c) and CR 12(b), however, Washington courts have developed a doctrine of harmless error coupled with a failure to object. "Generally, affirmative defenses are waived unless they are (1) affirmatively pleaded, (2) asserted in a motion under CR 12(b), or (3) tried by the express or implied consent of the parties." Henderson v. Tyrrell, 80 Wn.App. 592, 624, 910 P.2d 522

asserted in the responsive pleading thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter, (2) lack of jurisdiction over the person, (3) improper venue, (4) insufficiency of process, (5) insufficiency of service of process, (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted and (7) failure to join a party under rule 19." (CR 12(b) emphasis added)

(1996) (quoting *Bernsen v. Big Bend Elec. Coop.*, 68 Wn.App. 427, 433-34, 842 P.2d 1047 (1993) (emphasis added). More particularly, the court has permitted an affirmative defense to be made despite the failure to pleaded in an answer"[w]here a failure to plead a defense affirmatively does not affect the substantial rights of the parties" and therefore the noncompliance is harmless. *Henderson*, 80 Wn.App. at 624 (*quoting Mahoney v. Tingley*, 85 Wn.2d 95, 100, 529 P.2d 1068 (1975)).

Here, because the defense would affect a substantial right of the Plaintiff (if it was properly pleaded and if the defense was applicable to Plaintiff's claim), it is harmful to allow it. The substantial right is Plaintiff's ability to prosecute his claim without having to overcome the "clear and convincing" standard associated with the anti-SLAPP defense's 2010 amendment (asserted by Johnson) just to be able to move his claim forward and without the specter of a \$10,000 automatic civil penalty and an award of attorney's fees simply for trying to vindicate his rights against a malicious and vindictive prosecution initiated by his ex-wife. The existence or non-existence of the Defendant's claim is the most substantial issue in the case, it is the reason for the appeal and is the barrier against Filion from being able to voluntarily dismiss his suit (because no other claims exist). If the anti-SLAPP claim/defense is permitted to be asserted, then Filion may lose his claim (that is as substantial as substantial can be!)

Also, importantly, in this case there is no express or implied consent by Plaintiff to try that defense. Instead, the Plaintiff objects to this and has repeatedly objected to the attempted use of this defense by the Defendant Johnson. (CP 70-72 at CP 71, lns 19-22; CP 777, Plaintiff's 2nd CR 41(a) Motion to Dismiss, lns 1-2; and CP 328, Reply on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment).

In addition to the anti-SLAPP purported defense affecting a substantial right of Filion and being objected to, Washington Courts have concluded that a defendant waives an affirmative defense if "(1) assertion of the defense is inconsistent with defendant's prior behavior, or (2) the defendant has been dilatory in asserting the defense." King v. Snohomish County, 146 Wash.2d 420, 424, 47 P.3d 563 (2002) (emphasis added); See also Lybbert v. Grant County, State of Wash., 141 Wash.2d at 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000); and Blankenship v. Kaldor, 114 Wn.App. 312, 318, 57 P.3d 295, (Wash.App. Div. 3 2002) Here, Johnson's failure to amend her pleading to include the affirmative defense (despite knowing the repeated objections of Plaintiff) show that she was knowingly dilatory in her lawful assertion of the defense. Prior to the 2010 amendments, if Johnson was going to assert the anti-SLAPP defense, then she had better seek to amend her Answer to have included.

Thus, the fact that Johnson has <u>not</u> pleaded her claim within a document labeled Answer <u>is</u> absolutely pertinent to this case – as it means that, based on the nature of her claim, Johnson did not have standing to assert the Anti-SLAPP statute as a counterclaim nor as an affirmative defense.

2. The Trial Court's Authority to preclude or strike an invalid and inapplicable Defense is within its Right

Next, Johnson appears to argue that the Court somehow did not have the authority to enter the Order Denying Johnson's second Motion for Summary Judgment and precluding her attempted use of Anti-SLAPP.

That is not correct.

In deciding the two pending Motions, the Court entered two orders (CP 338-340, CP 341-348), which, read together, deny the Motions for Summary Judgment which also preclude the anti-SLAPP defense. In essence then, the Orders grant, in part, the Plaintiff's motion to strike an inapplicable and non-pleaded defense or claim (which Plaintiff made in its opening Motion for Summary Judgment by asserting that nothing prevented the Court from entering Summary Judgment, and then expressly in Plaintiff's Reply which requested that the anti-SLAPP purported defense be stricken CP 326-329 at 328). In rendering its decision, not only was the Court deciding both Motions for Summary Judgment

IN PACTA PLLC

pursuant to Rule 56, but the Court also exercised its inherent authority under Civil Rule 1 (securing the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action) to decide what issues remained for trial and what issues were precluded as a matter of law. Thus, the Court was entirely within its authority and province to find that Johnson could not raise the defense of the Anti-SLAPP statute.²⁶

3. The Defense of Absolute Immunity Afforded by RCW

Chapter 4.24.500, the anti-SLAPP statute, does not apply.

Washington's anti-SLAPP (Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation) statute, RCW 4.24.510 grants immunity from civil liability to a person who communicates a complaint or information to any branch or agency of federal, state, or local government. Such immunity extends to "claims based upon the communication to the agency or organization regarding any matter reasonably of concern to that agency or organization." RCW 4.24.510²⁷ In enacting this statute, the legislature

,

27 RCW 4.24.510 provides in pertinent part:

²⁶ As for Johnson's argument that the Court denied Johnson's second motion for summary judgment (based on the Anti-SLAPP claim/argument) because Johnson had already asserted this motion, that argument fails because the court did in fact hear Johnson's second motion on the same argument and did in fact deny it on substantive (that the statute did not apply to the conduct engaged in by Johnson) and procedural grounds (the failure to plead this counterclaim or affirmative defense). (CP 341-348, Order) Thus, the reference that the Court makes to KCLR 7(b)(7) (CP 341-348 at 342) was not the sole, if any basis, to deny Johnson's motion and any reference to KCLR is harmless if in error at all.

recognized that "[i]information provided by citizens concerning potential wrongdoing is vital to effective law enforcement" and that "the threat of a civil action for damages can act as a deterrent to citizens who wish to report" such information. RCW 4.24.500. "The legislature enacted RCW 4.24.510 to encourage the reporting of potential wrongdoing to governmental entities." *Gontmakher v. The City of Bellevue*, 120 Wn.App. 365, 366, 85 P.3d 926 (2004). However, the anti-SLAPP statute is not without limitations.

i. RCW 4.24.500-510 applies only in situations involving a substantive issue of public concern

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